IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY BANKS,

Petitioner,

vs.

ż

CASE NO. SCOO-116 (L. T. #4D98-4175)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

MARCY K. ALLEN Assistant Public Defender Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600 Florida Bar No. 332161

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

JUN 0 5 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT ORIGINAL

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County. The following symbol will be used:

# A = Appendix

#### CERTIFICATE OF FONT

Counsel for Petitioner hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not spaced proportionately.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was charged with delivery of cocaine. The facts were set forth in the opinion of the District Court as follows:

> Detective Roaden testified that she was working undercover and standing at a pay phone at a gas station when a car approached. Banks was the driver and Jeffrey Goodman was the passenger. Roaden was under surveillance by two other detectives located in a parked car. Goodman shouted for Roaden to come over to the car; Roaden complied and stood at the passenger window.

> Goodman asked Roaden why she was waiting, and Roaden replied that she was waiting for a friend with some money. Goodman asked her what she needed. Before answering, Roaden asked Goodman if Banks "was straight up." Roaden explained to the jury that this is street parlance for someone who is "with the game plan or part of the business, or not the cops,

wouldn't be susceptible to snitch out on you...." Goodman replied that Banks "was cool, he was okay, that he was with him." Shortly thereafter, Roaden stated that she was looking to purchase a fifty-cent piece, street parlance for fifty dollars worth of crack cocaine. Roaden stated that at that time, she was leaning into the car through the front passenger window, and Banks was looking at her. Goodman told Roaden there was no problem and asked when her friend would arrive with the money.

Roaden went to make a telephone call. When she returned to the car, Goodman pointed out a police surveillance vehicle. Roaden told them that if they were uncomfortable, they could go somewhere else to do the deal. Roaden said that her friend would bring the money and that if it was okay with them (Banks and Goodman), she would meet them in an alleyway. Goodman said, "Okay, no problem, and that he would be back and meet me there." Banks then drove the car away.

Roaden went to the alleyway, and Banks drove up ten or fifteen minutes later with Goodman, again, in the passenger seat. They pulled up to Roaden, who stood at the passenger side of the car. Roaden testified that

> Mr. Goodman said that he knew that I was straight up, that I was okay, and that him and Mr. Banks had had a discussion while they were gone about the undercover vehicle being across the street at the Amoco and that if they saw that vehicle again, then they would know that I was either the cops or a snitch or trying to set them up... [emphasis in original]

Goodman asked Roaden if she had the money; she answered yes and asked him if he had obtained

the cocaine. Goodman replied affirmatively, then showed her the cocaine rock. Roaden handed Goodman fifty dollars. Roaden also asked the two men if she could get another piece the same size in about an hour, and Goodman replied "no problem." The conversation and transaction occurred while Banks silently listened and observed. Goodman did not testify.

During closing, the state argued:

A car drives up to her driven by Mr. Banks. He's present when...Mr. Goodman...starts talking about what is Roaden there for, and Roaden says to Goodman is he okay. Goodman says, yeah, he's cool, he's straight up.

Do you know what that means? [emphasis in original].

Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D417 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA Feb. 16, 2000). Petitioner was found guilty, convicted and sentenced.

On direct appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Petitioner argued, as he did below, that it was error to permit the officer to testify to statements made to her by Goodman because these statements were inadmissible hearsay. The District Court of Appeal determined that the statements were verbal acts despite the state's use of the statements to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein and affirmed the conviction.

Petitioner's motion for rehearing or rehearing *en banc* was denied on April 26, 2000. Notice of invocation of discretionary

- 3-

review was filed on May 24, 2000.

ž

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal <u>Banks v.</u> <u>State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 417 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA Feb. 16, 2000) directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court of two related fronts. First, contrary to this court's holding in <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982), the Fourth District held that despite the prosecution's reliance upon an out of court statement made by a non-testifying declarant to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein, the statement was admissible as a verbal act. Second, contrary to this Court's holding in <u>Consalvo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 697 So. 2d 805, 813 (Fla. 1996), the Fourth District held that a statement which is admitted for a limited purpose may be relied upon by the prosecution as substantive evidence of guilt. This Court should thus, exercise its discretion to review the <u>Banks</u> decision.

- 4 -

# ARGUMENT

THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OVER THE INSTANT DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT ON THE BASIS OF DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF THIS COURT.

Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Constitution of Florida empowers this Court to review a decision of a district court of appeal which expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this Court. The Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So. 2d 286, 288 (Fla. 1988). Here, the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court of two related fronts. First, contrary to this Court's holding in Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982) (A-3-12), the Fourth District held that despite the prosecution's reliance upon an out of court statement made by a non-testifying declarant to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein, the statement is admissible as a verbal act. Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D 417 (Fla. 4th DCA Feb. 16, 2000) (A-1-2). Second, contrary to this Court's holding in <u>Consalvo v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 805, 813 (Fla. 1996)(A-13-28), the Fourth District held that a statement which is admitted for a limited purpose may be relied upon by the prosecution as substantive evidence of guilt. Banks v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D418.

At bar, Petitioner was charged as an aider and abettor with

- 5 -

delivery of cocaine. The Fourth District Court of Appeal determined that the undercover police officer's account of a conversation that she had with Jeffrey Goodman, the actual seller and a passenger in a vehicle driven by Petitioner, was admissible as a "verbal act." The District Court rejected Petitioner's contention that where the testimony was offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted as evidenced by the prosecutor's use of the evidence in closing argument, it was inadmissible hearsay. The appellate court held:

> We recognize that Goodman's statement to the effect that Banks was part of the deal may be viewed as offered for the truth of the matter asserted, particularly in view of the state's closing argument. However, a statement's inadmissibility for one purpose does not preclude its admissibility for another. See <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

> To prove its case against Banks as a principal, the state was required to show that Banks did some act to assist Goodman in the commission of the crime; mere knowledge or presence at the scene are insufficient to establish participation. See <u>Staten v. State</u>, 519 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1988). Assistance consists of engaging in some act that assists the co-perpetrator in committing the crime. See <u>T.B. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 732 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The act of control of the vehicle in driving to and from the scene of the buy with knowledge of what was occurring is proof of Banks' assistance in the drug deal.

> Banks' intent and active assistance is evidenced by Goodman's statements, with Banks looking on, which set up the deal and Banks' response by driving them to the location

indicated for the transaction to take place. As the statement was properly admitted as a verbal act, the state's creative use of the admissible testimony in its argument does not impact upon the issue of admissibility.

25 Fla. L. Weekly at D418.

3

The Fourth District's citation to <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982) in the first paragraph quoted above, for the proposition that "a statement's inadmissibility for one purpose does not preclude its admissibility for another." is an incomplete statement of the <u>Breedlove</u> holding. The <u>Breedlove</u> decision actually reads:

> Merely because a statement is not admissible for one purpose does not mean it is inadmissible for another purpose. <u>Hunt v. Seaboard</u> <u>Coast Line Railroad Co.</u>, 327 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1976); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 338 So.2d 251 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). The hearsay objection is unavailing when the inquiry is **not** directed to the truth of the words spoken, but, rather, to whether they were in fact spoken. Id. (Emphasis added.)

413 So. 2d at 6. It therefore follows that where, as in the instant case, the inquiry is directed to the truth of the words spoken and **not** whether the words were in fact spoken, the hearsay objection **is** availing.

In <u>Breedlove</u>, certain statements were admissible to show their effect on the defendant rather than to prove the truth of the matter asserted. At the time the statement was admitted, the trial court gave a proper limiting instruction. However, the prosecutor's reliance upon the out-of-court statements to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein constituted improper closing argument.

Here, even if that part of the officer's conversation with Goodman which set up the transaction was admissible as a verbal act under <u>Decile v. State</u>, 516 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987), Goodman's statements to the officer which established Petitioner's participation and which were emphasized in the appellate court's decision were unrelated to the terms of the transaction. They were not introduced to prove the nature of the transaction and were not admissible as a verbal act. Rather, they were introduced solely to establish the truth of the matter asserted: Petitioner's participation in the crime. Therefore, based on <u>Breedlove</u> and contrary to the decision of the District Court, where the words are introduced to prove their truth, i.e., Petitioner's participation in the crime, rather than as a verbal act i.e. to establish the transaction, the hearsay objection is availing.

This conclusion comports with the policy underlying the hearsay rule. Goodman, the individual who linked Petitioner to the crime, was not a witness. He was not subject to the jury's scrutiny nor was he subject to cross-examination. Instead, the

- 8 -

jury was permitted to rely upon his out-of-court statement to prove Petitioner's guilt. The hearsay rule was designed to prevent this very situation. <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d at 6.

Assuming arguendo, the entire out-of-court conversation with a non-testifying witness was admissible as a verbal act, contrary to <u>Banks</u> opinion, it was error to allow the state to rely upon the testimony as evidence of appellant's participation in the crime during closing argument. This Court has held that where evidence is admitted for one purpose, it may not be used for other purposes. <u>Consalvo v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 805, 813 (Fla. 1996) states:

> Appellant also claims that the State improperly argued the collateral burglary as similar fact evidence in closing argument to the jury. Under section 90.107, Florida Statutes (1995), evidence that is admissible for one purpose may be inadmissible for another purpose. <u>See Parsons v. Motor Homes of America, Inc.</u>, 465 So.2d 1285, 1290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Consequently, it is error to take the position that once material "is received in evidence, it will be received for any probative value it may have on any issues before the court." Id.

> .... The State's claim that it was simply arguing facts elicited during the trial and drawing legitimate inferences from them is not availing. The State's use of the facts from the Walker burglary exceeded the scope for which they were admitted--i.e., to establish the entire context out of which the criminal action occurred. (Emphasis added.)

Accord, <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 736 So. 2d 1160, 1166 (Fla. 1999)(A

prosecutor cannot use as substantive evidence statements admitted under the guise of impeachment evidence.)

The decision of the Fourth District which approves using outof-court statements of a non-testifying witness to prove the truth of the matter asserted therein as well as evidence of limited admissibility for any purpose is thus, in direct and express conflict with principles of law stated in <u>Consalvo</u> and <u>Breedlove</u>. Based upon this direct and express conflict on a matter of law, this Court should exercise its discretion to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Banks v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D417.

#### CONCLUSION

Because there is express and direct conflict, this Court should exercise its discretion to review the instant case.