ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SCOO-1161

JUN 2 6 2000 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

ANTHONY BANKS,

Petitioner

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTB ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO BUREAU CHIEF, WEST PALM BEACH Florida Bar No. 656879

AUGUST A. BONAVITA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 962295 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners were the Defendants and Respondent was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Petitioners were the Appellants and Respondent was the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court of Appeal except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State.

All emphasis in this brief is supplied by Respondent unless otherwise indicated.

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

In accordance with the Administrative Order of this Court dated July 13, 1998, the undersigned hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

AUGUST A. BOUAVITA
Assistant Attorney General

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioners' Statement of the case and facts for purposes of this Brief,

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court lacks jurisdiction over the instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals since there is no "direct and express conflict" with decisions of this Court. Similar to Breedlove¹ the extrajudicial statements admitted in this case and later referred to by the prosecutor were used solely to prove a verbal act, and not to prove the truth the matters asserted. Further, Consalvo² is distinguishable from the case at bar. Consequently, those cases are not in "direct and express conflict" with the lower court's decision in this case, and, accordingly, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

^{&#}x27;Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982).

²Consalvo v. State, 697 So.2d 805 (Fla. 1996).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION OVER TEE INSTANT DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS SINCE THERE IS NO DIRECT AND EXPRESS CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT (Restated).

This Court lacks jurisdiction over the instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals since there is no direct and express conflict with the decisions of this Court. Petitioner essentially argues that the decision of lower court "directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of this Court" (IB 5). The State respectfully disagrees.

Petitioner is correct in that Art, V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. confers upon this Court jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal which "expressly and directly" conflicts with a decision of this Court. As this Court has said:

jurisdiction in test of our situations is not measured simply by our view regarding the correctness of the Court of decision. On the contrary, jurisdiction to review because of an alleged conflict requires a preliminary determination whether the Court of Appeal has announced a decision on a point of law which, if permitted to stand, would be out of harmony with a prior decision of this Court or another Court of Appeal on the same point, thereby generating confusion and instability among the We have said that conflict must precedents. be such that if the later decision and the earlier decision were rendered by the same Court the former would have the effect of overruling the latter. Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1958). If the two cases are distinguishable in controlling elements or if the points of law settled by the two cases are not the same, then no conflict can arise. Florida Power and Light co. v. Bell, 113 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1959); Nielsen v. Citv of Sarasota, 117 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1960).

Kvle v. Kyle, 139 So.2d 885, 887 (Fla. 1962).

The State submits that the lower court's decision in the case at bar is not "out of harmony with" Breedlove. Contrary to Petitioner's claim, the prosecutor did not mention Goodman's statements during closing argument in order to prove the truth of the matters contained therein. Instead, as the lower court found, the purpose of Goodwin's statements was to, "prove [the State's] case against Banks as a principal, [since] the state was required to show that Banks did some act to assist Goodman in the commission of the crime [and] mere knowledge or presence at the scene are insufficient to establish participation." Banks v. State, 755 So.2d 142 (Fla. 4th DCA). This Court, in <u>Breedlove</u>, permitted the extrajudicial statements since they "show[ed] the effect on Breedlove rather than for the truth of those comments." Id. at 7. Therefore, Breedlove and the lower court's decision in this case are "in harmony," and consequently, there is no direct and express conflict upon which to confer jurisdiction. Kvle, supra., 139 So.2d at 887; Ansin; Art V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

To the contrary, in <u>Consalvo</u>, this Court held that the prosecutor's closing argument wherein he used the "Walker burglary" as "similar crimes evidence," was improper since this exceeded its

permissible use³. <u>Id.</u> at 813. Therefore, <u>Consalvo</u> is distinguishable from the case at bar since, as previously argued, the prosecutor properly used Goodwin's statements as "verbal acts" in order to prove that Petitioner's was involved in the crime as a principal and they were not offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted. Consequently, since this **case** and <u>Consalvo</u> are "distinguishable in controlling factual elements," there is no "direct and express conflict." Accordingly, this Court should decline to review the lower court's decision in this case.

 $^{^3}$ The trial court permitted this evidence to be used by the State only because it was "inextricably intertwined with the instant murder." Id. at 813.

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court to DECLINE to accept jurisdiction to review the instant case.